IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



Appeal No. 23-CF-852 (Crim. No. 2021-CF1-005603)

SHAKA HALTIWANGER

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Mindy Daniels, Esq. #375439 P.O. Box 1594 Landover, MD 20785 mindydaniels@verizon.net (202) 302-7441

Attorney for Appellant (Appointed by this Court)

LIST OF PARTIES

Shaka Haltiwanger was represented at trial by Wole Falodun and on appeal by Mindy Daniels. Appellee was represented at trial by Assistant United States Attorneys Gregory Kimak and Charles Jones and on appeal by Chrisellen R. Kolb.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Did The Trial Court Err By Failing To Strike A Juror For Cause?
- II. Did The Trial Court Abuse Its Discretion By Allowing The Government To Admit Evidence Of A Legal Retainer Agreement Found In Mr. Haltiwanger's Vehicle And His Failure To Comply With A Mandatory Check-In With A Government Employee To Show Consciousness of Guilt?
- III. Did The Trial Court Commit Reversible Error By Overruling Defense Objections To Cross-Examination Of Testifying Defendant - With A High School Diploma - About His Knowledge Of The Laws Of Self-Defense In The District Of Columbia And Then By Allowing The Prosecutor To Argue Inferences Therefrom To The Jury In Closing Argument To Disprove He Acted In Self-Defense?
- IV. Did The Government Satisfy Its Burden At Trial To Prove Beyond A Reasonable Doubt That Mr. Haltiwanger Did Not Act in Self-Defense?

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal No. 23-CF-852

SHAKA HALTIWANGER

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Appellee.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

Appellant Shaka Haltiwanger was charged in an Indictment (R. 899-90 (PDF)) ¹ with Second Degree Murder While Armed in violation of D.C. Code §§ 22-2103, 4502; ² Possession Of A Firearm During A Crime Of Violence in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(b); Carrying A Pistol Without A License in violation of D.C. Code §§ 22-4504(a)(1) and possession of a large-capacity

¹ Citations to "R. * (PDF) or "RS" * (PDF) refer to the Record on Appeal or Supplemental Record on Appeal (Sealed) followed by its PDF electronic page number, followed by the specific page number of the original document, if applicable. *See* D.C.App. R. 28(e).

[&]quot;*/*/* Tr. *" refers to the date of transcript proceedings in Superior Court followed by the court reporter's designated page number.

² All D.C. Code references are to the 2001 edition.

ammunition feeding device in violation of D.C. Code §§ 7-2506.01.

Pretrial proceedings and a jury trial were presided over by D.C. Superior Court Associate Judge Rainey Brandt. On March 22, 2023, the jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts (R. 1260-61 (PDF); (3/22/23 Tr. 7)). On September 19, 2023, the court sentenced Mr. Haltiwanger to 24 years of incarceration followed by 3 years of supervised release for second degree murder while armed, a concurrent term of 60 months for possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, and concurrent terms of 12 months each for possession of a large capacity feeding device and carrying a pistol without a license. Four hundred dollars was assessed under the Victims of Violent Crimes Act (R. 1292 (PDF); (9/19/23 Tr. 41)).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on October 11, 2024 (R. 1296-97 (PDF)). This court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11- 721(a)(1), which provides the Court of Appeals with jurisdiction to review "all final orders and judgments" of the District of Columbia Superior Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Government's Evidence

Keith Taylor testified he suffered a stroke about four or five years before that affected his motor functions and speech. His 39-year-old son, Anthony Kelley, moved into his one bedroom apartment at 1400 29th Street Southeast apartment

number 13 to help him for about a year and a half before moving out. Mr. Kelley slept in the living room where there was a bed and couch. Mr. Kelley moved out of his father's apartment about six months before the events in this case (*id.* at 144). Mr. Taylor opined he was an absent parent who missed his son's childhood because of his longtime addiction to crack cocaine (3/8/23 Tr. 128-35, 144). ³

Mr. Taylor knew his son drank liquor regularly but never saw him violent or angry (*id.* at 137-38). When Mr. Taylor smoked crack in his apartment, his son worried to him the vapor could affect him and his Amtrak job because they would test for drugs (*id.* at 141-42). Mr. Taylor knew his son was had strong feelings against his drug use and wanted him to stop. When his son was not in the apartment he would buy crack there like he did with Mr. Haltiwanger the evening of September 10, 2021, but if his son was present he would leave the apartment to purchase drugs. Mr. Taylor never introduced Mr. Kelley to his dealers and Mr. Haltiwanger was no exception, they didn't know each other (*id.* at 143-44).

Mr. Taylor's apartment was situated at the end of a hallway on the second floor across from Ms. Pittman in apartment 12. Their hallway led to stairs down to the first floor and lobby area. Mr. Taylor was home in his apartment on September

³ Mr. Taylor testified his son told him he was moving out of the apartment in order to spend more time with his young children but his mother testified, *infra*, the move was because he did not like the bad company his father kept (*id.* at 107, 144).

10, 2021 (3/8/2023 Tr. 144-45). Between 2:00 a.m. and 4:00 a.m., Mr. Taylor was in the company of his girlfriend Vanessa Green who also lived in the building and they were smoking crack together that Mr. Taylor purchased from Mr. Haltiwanger, who he identified in court as someone he knew as "Yungin" (*id.* at 146-47, 153). Mr. Taylor had bought drugs from Mr. Haltiwanger at an average of four or five times a week in the past month or two. That day he used Ms. Green's phone to call Mr. Haltiwanger and ask him for a "tix", meaning allowing him to buy the crack on credit in exchange for paying back double later (*id.* at 147-50).

Mr. Haltiwanger arrived at Mr. Taylor's apartment and sold him \$50 worth of crack cocaine on credit (3/8/23 Tr. 151-52). Sometimes Mr. Haltiwanger would sleep at Mr. Taylor's apartment like he did that night (*id.* at 155). ⁴ After Mr. Taylor purchased the crack, Mr. Haltiwanger stayed in the living room and Mr. Taylor and Ms. Green went and smoked the crack in Mr. Taylor's bedroom. That took about 15 minutes, Mr. Haltiwanger would not sell him more on credit and Ms. Green went home at about 4:15 a.m.. Mr. Haltiwanger had the same red backpack with him he often carried, but Mr. Taylor never saw the contents (*id.* at 158-59). At about 5:00 or 6:00 that morning Mr. Taylor saw Mr. Haltiwanger asleep on the

⁴ When he would tell Mr. Haltiwanger he could not stay the night, he always left without any argument. Mr. Haltiwanger was never violent in their frequent 4-5 times a week drug dealings and never forced him to buy drugs (*id.* at 174-75, 182).

couch in the living room and he went to sleep in his bedroom (id. at 159).

Mr. Taylor testified it had been two to three weeks since he had spoken to his son and that morning he apparently entered the apartment unannounced with his key (id. at 159-60). The way the apartment was configured, from the living room where Mr. Haltiwanger was sleeping, he would not be able to see Mr. Kelley coming in from the front door (id. at 136). Mr. Taylor was suddenly awakened when he heard his son yelling and screaming angrily (id. at 176). He went from his bedroom to the living room and saw his son aggressively grabbing Mr. Haltiwanger with both hands and saying, "Get the fuck out. Get the fuck out" (id. at 161, 176-78). Mr. Haltiwanger did not resist in any way, did not threaten him, fight back or put his hands on him. Mr. Haltiwanger only grabbed his backpack as Mr. Kelley was shoving him out the apartment door. Mr. Taylor testified he tried to intervene and stop his son from continuing the assault on Mr. Haltiwanger but his son pushed him out of the way and followed Mr. Haltiwanger out. When Mr. Taylor recovered from being pushed and made his way out into the hallway he did not see either of the men but then heard a shot. Ms. Pittman came out of her apartment and was saying she heard a shot and to call police (id. at 161-64, 178-81). Mr. Taylor rushed downstairs and saw his son had been shot. Ms. Green's daughter Tamika was holding a towel to his wound. Mr. Kelley told his father to

call 911. His 911 call was made at 11:29:46 a.m. and played for the jury (*id.* at 165-68, 172-74). ⁵

Linda Pittman from apartment 12 testified she heard very loud arguing for several minutes and came out to tell whoever that was to stop and at the same time saw Mr. Taylor emerge from his apartment door. (3/13/23 Tr. 131, 151). They both walked to the top of the steps on the second floor hallway and she heard a male voice from below say, "I'll drag your ass" (*id.* at 135). Two seconds later she heard a gunshot and she ran back into her apartment as Mr. Taylor started down the stairs (*id.* at 135, 144). Ms. Pittman's 911 call was played for the jury (*id.* at 144-46).

Vanessa Green identified Mr. Haltiwanger in court as the person she knew as "Forty", a drug dealer she purchased crack from a few times a month for three or four months prior to the shooting. ⁶ She saw Mr. Kelley almost every day before

⁵ Videos were introduced into evidence showing Mr. Taylor identifying a picture of Mr. Haltiwanger to police as the person who was in his apartment and telling police at 12:26:35 that Mr. Haltiwanger had called him from private numbers after the shooting (*id.* at 168-7; 3/9/23 Tr. 100-102).

⁶ The telephone number Ms. Green had in her phone for Forty was (202) 940-2332 (3/9/23 Tr. 55). A custodian of records for T-Mobile testified the number was associated with an account for an individual named Kevin Bey (*id.* at 111). FBI Special Agent Luis DeJesus, qualified as an expert in cell site analysis, testified he performed a historical analysis of that number and one associated with Ms. Green (*id.* at 157-61). He concluded both numbers were in the same vicinity of the shooting between the hours of 10:01 a.m. and 11:27 a.m. and afterwards the number ending in 2332 moving east away from the scene (*id.* at 171-77).

he died because he had a close dating relationship with her daughter Tamika (3/9/23 Tr. 24-25, 48-56). Ms. Green smoked crack with Mr. Taylor and had a continuing close dating relationship with him (*id.* at 49, 57, 85). Ms. Green suffered a stroke at some point after Mr. Kelley was shot that affected her physically and her memory but said she remembered the events of September 10, 2021 (*id.* at 26, 28). Ms. Green was present when Mr. Haltiwanger came over to Mr. Taylor's apartment at their behest to sell them crack and testified that she bought ten dollars worth from him too that she and Mr. Taylor smoked before she went back to her first floor apartment for the night (*id.* at 57-59). At about 11:30 a.m. Ms. Green was awakened by her dog and heard a noise that made her think her son was trying to get into the front door of the building and had not key but when she went to the front door and looked he was not there (*id.* at 30-31, 37-38).

As she went back toward her apartment but while still in the hallway she heard footsteps coming down the stairs and assumed a dispute on the second floor was occurring after hearing a female saying not to fight in the hallway and to take it elsewhere (*id.* at 34-35). Then she saw Mr. Kelley, who she referred to as "Ant" come toward her looking unhappy and right behind him Mr. Haltiwanger, who she said shot Ant in his back (*id.* at 39, 66, 72). She testified at trial she heard the shot

but did not see a gun, she believed the gun was in the backpack Mr. Haltiwanger had and Mr. Haltiwanger must have shot through that, but after being refreshed with her grand jury testimony where she testified she saw a beige or gray color gun come out of the backpack, she adopted her grand jury testimony (*id.* at 67-69). Ms. Green testified after he was shot Mr. Kelley fell backwards onto his back and she said to Mr. Haltiwanger, "Damn, you just shot him" (3/9/23 Tr. 39-40). She said he just looked at her and left the building in a hurry (*id*). Ms. Green went into her apartment retrieved her cell phone and called 911 at 11:29:19 a.m.. A recording of that call was admitted into evidence and played for the jury (*id.* at 41-43). ⁷

Ms. Green testified she knew Mr. Haltiwanger to have two cars and one was an Infiniti (*id.* at 59-60). At a friend's house a few months prior to the shooting she saw the handle of a gun hanging out of a backpack he had on the floor (*id.* at 62). She could not recall the color of the backpack or of the handle of the gun but recognized it as a gun (*id.*). She denied seeing Mr. Kelley with a gun or picking up a gun from the floor after he was shot (*id.* at 64).

⁷ On the scene Ms. Green identified a picture of Mr. Haltiwanger from a DMV photo shown to her by Detective Kevin Becker and told him that a jacket located on the floor in the hallway belonged to him. Ms. Green reported to police she thought unknown and blocked calls she did not answer from a private number she got the day after the shooting and then before her grand jury testimony were from the defendant and not coincidental but couldn't tell (*id.* at 43-45, 47, 93-98).

On cross-examination Ms. Green acknowledged (3/9/23 Tr. 75-77) that body-worn camera video taken on the scene at 11:48:13 that day and played in court by defense counsel showed her telling police "the dude turned around and shot him" (id. at 77). She was also captured on video on the scene telling another officer she first heard a pop and after that she turned around and saw Mr. Kelley lying on the floor (id. at 77-78, 82-83). She acknowledged that on the scene she did not tell any officer Mr. Haltiwanger shot Mr. Kelley in the back and that the first time she said that was in her grand jury testimony two weeks after the shooting, and after her daughter Tamika had been arrested for a serious but unrelated felony in D.C. (killing her ex-boyfriend) that carried a potential of significant jail time and was still pending (id. at 84). Tamkia was arrested later that very same day Mr. Kelley was shot. She denied her daughter's situation with the government led her to change her statements (id. at 48-49, 88-89). Ms. Green testified it was "possible" her memory of what occurred was better on the scene when speaking to police than two weeks later in grand jury (id. at 85-86, 88-89). 8

⁸ Ms. Green testified she was nervous on the scene the day of the shooting and did not know who knew Mr. Haltiwanger and might be listening to her talking to police where she was inculpating him (*id.* at 90). Detective Becker stated Ms. Green was nervous and stated a preference to talk to police in the privacy of her apartment where she identified for him a photo of Mr. Haltiwanger (*id.* at 99).

Donna Kelley testified she was briefly married to Keith Taylor, Anthony Kelley's biological father, and was aware her son had strong feelings about his father's drug addiction and toward those he saw as bad company his father kept as a result of his addiction (3/8/23 Tr. 102-04). She knew her son frequently drank liquor and had been living with his father until February or March 2021, to help him out due to his health issues, but then moved out because he could not tolerate "the company he [Mr. Taylor] kept" (*id.* at 107). ⁹ Ms. Kelly learned of the shooting from a call Mr. Taylor made to her from the scene (*id.* at 108).

In response to the 911 calls of a shooting Metropolitan Police Department Officer Jack Krycia arrived on the scene at about 11:30 a.m. (3/8/23 Tr. 62-63). The apartment building did not have surveillance cameras but Officer Krycia's body-worn camera video that was played for the jury (Government Exhibit 401) showed Mr. Kelley lying on the first floor inside the building and being treated by a paramedic for an apparent gunshot wound before pronounced dead at the scene (*id.* at 65-67, 71, 77, 83). Numerous Government Exhibits (*id.* at 73) were admitted

⁹ Antonia Jackson, Mr. Kelley's estranged wife, testified she had lived with Mr. Kelley for 3 years but for the 3 years before he was shot she had not been living with him and did not have a lot of personal contact with him. In her experience she knew that Mr. Kelley drank liquor excessively (3/8/23 Tr. 116, 119-20). When drunk he would alternate between a sad and happy state of mind, she did not see him act violent and did not know him to carry a weapon (*id.* at 117-18).

into evidence through Officer Krycia. *See* Exhibit Summary (R. 1186-90 (PDF)). He testified one bullet fragment on the scene and no shell casings (*id.* at 80).

Rosemarie Schuster, a forensic scientist for the Department of Forensic Science processed and swabbed for DNA a silver Infiniti. Among other things she observed and collected was a leafy substance, scale in the front console, four cartridge casings, a prescription receipt with the defendant's name on it (3/9/23 Tr. 129, 133, 138-47). Over objection, Ms. Schuster was permitted to testify she also found a recently dated retainer agreement signed by Mr. Haltiwanger with another individual to represent him in a legal matter (*id.* at 148-49).

Ms. Hackett testified she reported to police hearing a gunshot and then seeing an African-American man with a limp walking on O Street, stop at a parked silver Infiniti and place something underneath the front passenger side of the vehicle. She did not see his face but saw him walk to the back of a nearby house and then come out a couple of minutes later and get in the back of a white vehicle speeding down the street (3/13/23 Tr. 157-59, 162). Keys found in the jacket on the floor of the apartment building opened the door to the Infiniti (3/13/23 Tr. 63-65, 74-77). Officer Krycia located a black firearm on the front passenger side wheel of the vehicle (3/8/23 Tr. 83, 87; 3/13/23 Tr. 79-80). No fingerprints were recovered from the firearm. Swabs from the firearm indicated the presence of Mr.

Haltiwanger's DNA and DNA from unknown individuals and excluded Mr. Kelley. The same results were found from swabs of the jacket and the Infiniti (3/13/23 Tr. 12-13, 41-43, 46-57, 91-93).

Stephen Rasso, the deputy chief toxicologist for the D.C. Office of the Chief Medical Examiner testified that a toxicology analysis performed on Mr. Kelley as part of the autopsy showed a high blood alcohol level of .29 at time of death and as high as .35 at some point earlier (3/13/23 Tr. 94, 107-110, 115-16, 118). He agreed that high reading could impaired judgment, inhibitions lessened and a possible rise in belligerence and aggressive behavior (*id.* at 119). ¹⁰

Over objections, the government was permitted to bring out testimony in its case-in-chief that Mr. Haltiwanger had a monthly telephone check-in with a government employee and that after the shooting he failed to keep those appointments (3/13/23 Tr. 125-28).

Ryan Iorio was the lead crime scene technician in the case. He did not see any weapon in the hallway of the apartment building or shell casings but he

¹⁰ During a discussion of jury instructions the court mentioned the numbers meant to it Mr. Kelley's blood alcohol level was "more than three times the legal limit in the District of Columbia, so he was not by any stretch of the imagination sober" (3/20/23 Tr. 135). In what the judge described as vast experience presiding over driving while intoxicated cases (*id.* at 135) she wondered "how in the world he [Mr. Kelley] drove that day without getting pulled over, because he was not clear-headed by any stretch of the imagination." (*Id.* at 136).

recovered among other items a bullet fragment from the stairs in the foyer of the apartment building, and a jacket in the hallway and its contents which included the title to a 2006 Infiniti (3/15/23 Tr. 7-8, 14-15, 17-20). What was suspected to be blood was found on the foyer stairs (*id.* at 21). The firearm found on the top of the passenger tire of the Infiniti and cartridge casing that was found in the chamber of the gun were entered into evidence (*id.* at 21-25). After the Infiniti was towed Mr. Iorio noticed a magazine on the ground and loose cartridges (*id.* at 26, 28-29). On cross-examination he confirmed the inside of Mr. Taylor's apartment was not searched for a weapon or processed by law enforcement for evidence (*id.* at 32).

Richard Wyant, an expert in firearm and tool mark examination testified the gun found in the Infiniti was a semiautomatic with a drum portion in the grip that could hold 50 bullets, and the gun had a cartridge casing stuck in the chamber that had not been manually ejected. Mr. Wyant concluded the cartridge cases he examined all came from the same Glock type gun (3/14/23 Tr. 16, 24, 31-40).

Deputy Medical Examiner Kimberly Golden performed the autopsy on Mr. Kelley on September 11, 2021, signed his autopsy report on December 1, 2021, and amended it in February, 2023 (Government Exhibits 700 and 700(A)) (3/15/23 Tr. 33-34, 38, 40, 42, 84, 100). Mr. Kelley was 5'8" tall and weighed 200 pounds (*id.* at 50). An eyeball examination for soot or stippling did not seem to indicate the

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