BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-852

Clerk of the Court Received 05/23/2025 01:46 PM Filed 05/23/2025 01:46 PM

SHAKA HALTIWANGER,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

JEANINE FERRIS PIRRO United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB MARK HOBEL CHARLES R. JONES

- * BRYAN H. HAN
 D.C. Bar #1033364
 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Bryan.Han@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2021-CF1-5603

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

3. Harmlessness

Even assuming the trial court erred by admitting the check-in or retainer-agreement evidence, any alleged error was harmless. The evidence disproving Haltiwanger's self-defense claim was very strong. *See Riddick v. United States*, 995 A.2d 212, 220 (D.C. 2010) ("In determining whether an error was harmless, we look

at, *inter alia*, the closeness of the case.") (cleaned up). Green testified that she saw Haltiwanger shoot Kelley in the back (3/9/23 Tr. 39-40). Although she was impeached, this was not a pure credibility contest because the physical evidence corroborated Green, not Haltiwanger. The autopsy of Kelley's body corroborated Green's testimony because the nature of the entrance and exit wounds and the path of the bullet established that Kelley was shot in the back (3/15/23 Tr. 65-66). In contrast, Haltiwanger's self-serving testimony (3/20/23 Tr. 35) that he turned slightly and shot Kelley after Kelly had grabbed him from behind was inconsistent with the forensic evidence. Haltiwanger's story did not account for how Kelley was shot in the back. Kelley was also, according to Haltiwanger, within arm's reach when he grabbed Haltiwanger shortly before he was shot, but the autopsy found no soot or stippling on Kelley's body that would indicate that he was shot from "close range" (within three feet) (3/15/23 Tr. 53-55). Additionally, Kelley was excluded from the DNA profile mixture obtained from swabs of Haltiwanger's jacket, which contradicted Haltiwanger's story that Kelley had grabbed him from behind (3/13/23) Tr. 52-53). Moreover, no other witness saw the firearm that Haltiwanger claimed Kelley had (3/8/23 Tr. 183; 3/9/23 Tr. 63; 3/15/23 Tr. 14).

The evidence showing Haltiwanger's consciousness of guilt in other ways was also very strong. He tried to hide his gun and magazine, left without calling 911, and called Green and Taylor from blocked numbers following Kelley's murder (3/8/23

Tr. 168-71; 3/9/23 Tr. 44; 3/13/23 Tr. 191-96, 198-99). Even after his arrest, Haltiwanger was confident that the government could not prove he shot Kelley, explaining in jail calls that his fingerprints were not found on the firearm and that Taylor and Green were "crackheads" that would not appear in court and would not be credible even if they did (3/20/23 Tr. 110-11; Ex. 437). He also mentioned rejecting his previous attorney's suggestion "if you did it [shot Kelley] because you were scared"—likely referring to self-defense—to which he replied, "no, that was not the case" (Ex. 425). Haltiwanger also discussed accusing Green's daughter of shooting Kelley (Ex. 437). He did not claim self-defense until trial, after he had learned the government had DNA evidence tying him to his firearm and car (3/20/23 Tr. 111-13). See Riddick, 995 A.2d at 220 (error harmless where "forensic evidence was completely inconsistent" with defendant's account and jury could infer consciousness of guilt from defendant's abscondment to New York).

Finally, the check-in and legal-retainer evidence was not an important part of the government's case. Both the pretrial services officer's testimony and the legal-retainer evidence took up less than two transcript pages each (3/9/23 Tr. 148-49; 3/13/23 Tr. 127-28). Neither was mentioned by the government in closing or rebuttal argument (3/20/23 Tr. 177-209, 236-43). *See Morten v. United States*, 856 A.2d 595, 602 (D.C. 2004) ("A prosecutor's stress upon the centrality of particular evidence in closing argument tells a good deal about whether the admission of the evidence was

meant to be, and was, prejudicial.") (cleaned up). There was no attempt to use either piece of evidence to suggest Haltiwanger had a criminal history. Moreover, each snippet of evidence was presented to the jury on different days through different witnesses, further reducing the chance that jurors might connect the two and speculate that Haltiwanger was involved in other criminal activity (3/9/23 Tr. 148-49; 3/13/23 Tr. 127-28). Cf. Bellamy v. United States, 296 A.3d 909, 917-19 (D.C. 2023) (prejudice of joined charges mitigated if evidence of two incidents is kept "separate and distinct"). Under the circumstances, any alleged error in the admission of the check-in or legal-retainer evidence, either separately or together, was harmless. See Carpenter v. United States, 144 A.3d 1141, 1150 (D.C. 2016) (trial court failure to strike irrelevant and prejudicial testimony harmless where "the government did not highlight this testimony in closing" and "the evidence establishing [the defendant's] guilt was otherwise strong").

III. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Allowing Limited Cross-Examination of Haltiwanger on HisUnderstanding of Self-Defense.

A. Additional Background

During Haltiwanger's testimony, he admitted on direct examination that he had brought a gun to Taylor's apartment, and that he had pulled the gun out of his backpack and shot Kelley "to save [his] life out of desperation" (3/20/23 Tr. 28, 35). On cross-examination, Haltiwanger admitted he kept his gun in his backpack with

"a round in the chamber" ready to fire, claiming he did so for protection because he had "been shot multiple times" (3/20/23 Tr. 50). The government asked Haltiwanger where he got the gun, and the trial court initially sustained an objection (3/20/23 Tr. 52). At the ensuing bench conference, the government argued that Haltiwanger "testified that he got this gun for self-defense, that he's been shot, and that's why he acquired it" (3/20/23 Tr. 53). The government sought to "probe the circumstances" by which he got the gun, to establish if, at the time he was getting this gun for selfdefense, he had any idea about the law of self-defense" (3/20/23 Tr. 53). The government added that Haltiwanger's understanding of self-defense and belief that he was justified in shooting Kelley went "directly to his state of mind at the time that he did the shooting and, more importantly, to help explain his actions after the fact" (3/20/23 Tr. 53-54). The court allowed a "limited probe" because Haltiwanger had testified on direct examination that he had called Taylor from a blocked number "because he figured that Mr. Taylor wouldn't pick up if he knew it was [Haltiwanger] calling" (3/20/23 Tr. 54). The trial court found that testimony "just wonky enough, so to speak, because if you shot in self-defense," then "why wouldn't the father pick up and talk to you?" (3/20/23 Tr. 54). Defense counsel then proffered that there were "lots of clients who do not believe that there is a self-defense law in D.C." (3/20/23 Tr. 54-55). The trial court advised the government to "tread gingerly" and overruled the initial objection (3/20/23 Tr. 55).

In response to the government's questions about where he got the gun and why, Haltiwanger testified that he bought it from "a person in [his] neighborhood" because he "need[ed] to be able to protect [him]self" after he was shot for a third time (3/20/23 Tr. 56). The government then asked whether Haltiwanger "kn[e]w at the time [he] got the gun that the law in D.C. allows people to defend themselves if they are shot," and Haltiwanger responded, "No" (3/20/23 Tr. 56). After being confronted with the fact that he had testified that he "got this gun to defend [him]self, but" he claimed to have "no knowledge that the law allowed [him] to use the gun to defend [him]self," Haltiwanger testified that he "may have heard" about the law of self-defense "once the laws changed in D.C.," but he "didn't know about it" and "didn't know if it was actually true or not" (3/20/23 Tr. 57). The defense objected to further questioning, and the government moved on (3/20/23 Tr. 57-58).

Later during cross-examination, the government asked Haltiwanger a series of questions about hiding his gun after the shooting (3/20/23 Tr. 62). In response to a question about whether it "would be bad" if police had searched him and found a gun, Haltiwanger testified, "Possibly but not really" (3/20/23 Tr. 62). The government challenged Haltiwanger to name a circumstance where "being stopped near a shooting location with a gun" would "not be bad for you," and Haltiwanger answered, "Where you acted in self-defense" (3/20/23 Tr. 62). When the prosecutor pointed out that Haltiwanger had previously "said [he was not] even sure self-

defense was a thing," Haltiwanger replied that "now [he was] educated on that defense" (3/20/23 Tr. 63).

At the start of redirect examination, defense counsel asked Haltiwanger about the October 28, 2021, jail call with his sister, in which he denied shooting Kelley "because [he was] scared," and whether Haltiwanger was aware at the time "that self-defense was a defense in D.C." (3/20/23 Tr. 106-07, 120). Haltiwanger testified that he was not aware that he could claim self-defense, and that "people at the jail" had told him "there's no self-defense in D.C. (3/20/23 Tr. 120). According to Haltiwanger, he "sa[id] what [he] said" because he was "really scared [that] nobody was going to believe that [he] acted in self-defense" (3/20/23 Tr. 121).

In closing, the government made the following unobjected-to argument concerning Haltiwanger's knowledge of self-defense:

"This whole concept of he had never heard of self-defense – he was very comfortable going out and arming himself with a gun. You'll have to believe – or excuse me, you'll have to consider for yourself if you think it's reasonable that someone who purposefully seeks out a gun has absolutely no idea of what the law on self-defense is." (3/20/23 Tr. 204.).

B. Standard of Review and Legal Principles

"It is essential, to the proper functioning of the adversary system that when a defendant takes the stand, the government be permitted proper and effective cross-examination in an attempt to elicit the truth." *Pitt v. United States*, 220 A.3d 951, 954 (D.C. 2019) (quoting *United States v. Havens*, 446 U.S. 620, 626-27 (1980))

(alteration omitted). "Prosecutors may cross-examine as to both the facts asserted by the defendant in testimony and the reasonably related inferences drawn from the direct testimony." *Id.* (cleaned up). "[T]he evaluation and weighing of evidence for relevance and potential prejudice is quintessentially a discretionary function of the trial court," thus this Court "review[s] the trial court's determinations defining the extent and scope of the prosecution's cross-examination of [a defendant's] testimony for abuse of discretion." *Id.* at 954-55 (cleaned up).

This Court "review[s] allegations of prosecutorial misconduct [in closing argument] not first raised before the trial court for plain error." *Young v. United States*, 305 A.3d 402, 422 (D.C. 2023). "[U]nder plain error review, an appellant is required to show that a trial court's allowance . . . was (1) error, (2) that is plain, (3) that affects substantial rights, . . . [and] (4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings." *Id.* at 422-23 (cleaned up).

C. Discussion

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing limited cross-examination of Haltiwanger on his understanding of self-defense, which was relevant to contested issues in the case. The government introduced several pieces of evidence that Haltiwanger acted in a way that showed consciousness of guilt after shooting Kelley (3/8/23 Tr. 168-71; 3/9/23 Tr. 44; 3/13/23 Tr. 191-96, 198-99). As the prosecutor argued, if Haltiwanger believed he had acted in legal self-defense, he

would not have taken steps that showed he believed he had acted wrongly (3/20/23) Tr. 53-54). His knowledge of self-defense was relevant to the credibility of his explanations for those actions. See United States v. Raper, 676 F.2d 841, 846-47 (D.C. Cir. 1982) ("Matters affecting the credibility of the witness are always open cross-examination.") (cleaned up). The government also challenged Haltiwanger's credibility with evidence that he initially did not claim self-defense. Instead, he had focused on the likelihood the witnesses would not appear; the lack of fingerprints or video; and the false theory that Kelley's girlfriend killed Kelley (3/20/23 Tr. 108, 110-11, 118-19; Exs. 424, 425, 437, 506). It was not until trial, when Haltiwanger had learned the government had other evidence tying him to his firearm and car, that he claimed self-defense (3/20/23 Tr. 111-13). Cf. Portuondo v. Agard, 529 U.S. 61, 73 (2000) ("A witness's ability to hear prior testimony and to tailor his account accordingly, and the threat that ability presents to the integrity of the trial, are no different when it is the defendant doing the listening."). Haltiwanger's understanding of self-defense, both at the time of Kelley's murder and at trial, was relevant to whether he had fabricated his story of self-defense and shaped his testimony in response to the government's evidence. See Pitt, 220 A.3d at 964 (cross-examination of defendant on prior burglary proper where it was "used to impeach the general credibility of [his] relatively innocent explanations of the evidence"). Ultimately, the defense implicitly acknowledged as much; at the

beginning of redirect, Haltiwanger tried to explain away his statement to his sister that "[it] was not the case" that he "did it because [he was] scared" by testifying that he had believed "there's no self-defense in D.C." based on his conversations with other jail inmates (3/20/23 Tr. 120).

Haltiwanger argues (at 37) that the probative value of the evidence was outweighed by its unfair prejudice and confusion. Not so. At the trial court's clear direction, the government's questioning was limited, and it moved on after it became clear Haltiwanger was claiming he did not know anything about the law of selfdefense when he killed Kelley (3/20/23 Tr. 56-59). The prosecutor only asked about self-defense again when Haltiwanger raised it in response to questions about why he hid his firearm after Kelley's shooting (3/20/23 Tr. 62-63). No argument was made, as Haltiwanger suggests (at 37-38), that he had a burden to understand the law of self-defense or that his lack of knowledge precluded his ability to claim self-defense. Instead, as Haltiwanger recognizes (at 37-38), the trial court properly instructed the jury that the government had the burden of proof and that the use of force in lawful self-defense depended on whether Haltiwanger "under the circumstances as they appeared to him at the time of the incident, actually believed he was in imminent danger of death or serious bodily harm and could reasonably hold that belief' (R2. 567, 586 (Jury Instructions 11, 30)).

In any event, cross-examination of Haltiwanger on his understanding of self-defense was harmless. The government mentioned it once in closing argument and, as described above, the government's evidence disproving Haltiwanger's self-defense claim was strong. Even assuming error, Haltiwanger's convictions should be affirmed. *See Carpenter*, 144 A.3d at 1150; *Riddick*, 995 A.2d at 220.

Haltiwanger also claims (at 36) that the government improperly argued that the jury could consider his claim he did not know about self-defense when he bought his firearm when evaluating his credibility (3/20/23 Tr. 204). He shows no error, much less plain error, in the trial court's failure to intervene sua sponte to preclude that unobjected-to argument. "The prosecutor is entitled to make reasonable comments on the evidence and urge such inferences from the testimony as will support his theory of the case." Young, 305 A.3d at 424 (cleaned up). Here, the prosecutor correctly pointed out that the jury could consider the believability of Haltiwanger's claim regarding his knowledge of self-defense when evaluating his credibility (3/20/23 Tr. 204). That comment was set within the wider context of the prosecutor's argument that the evidence undermined Haltiwanger's credibility (3/20/23 Tr. 201-05, 208). The trial court did not commit error, much less plain error, by not intervening to preclude the government's argument sua sponte. See Young, 305 A.3d at 424-25 (prosecutor's argument describing defendant's testimony as "self-serving statements" proper because "it was based on evidence that contradicted

the self-defense theory, and not just a personal opinion"); *Teoume-Lessane v. United States*, 931 A.2d 478, 497 (D.C. 2007) ("[T]he argument that a witness's testimony is incredible . . . is permissible when that is a logical inference from the evidence and not merely the opinion of counsel.") (cleaned up).⁶

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